1998

J.V. Hatch Construction, Inc. v. Michael Kampros : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Article VIII, Section 3, Constitution of Utah, Section 78-2-2(j), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended and Rules 3(a) and 4(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review:

1. Did the trial court error in granting defendant's Motion for Reconsideration.
2. Did the trial court error in denying plaintiff's Motion to Reopen Case for Limited Purpose?

STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

1. In reviewing the trial court's decision granting defendant's Motion for Reconsideration, the appellate court will accord no deference to the trial court's decision and review it for correctness since it was decided on an issue of law. Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985) ("[W]e accord conclusions of law no particular deference but review them for correctness."); Handy v. Union Pacific Railroad, 841 P.2d 1210, 1215 (Utah App. 1992) (whether a party has failed to establish a prima facie case is a question of law); See also Sorenson v. Kennecott-Utah Copper Corp., 873 P.2d 1141, 1144 (Utah App. 1994).

2. In reviewing the trial court's decision denying

plaintiff's Motion to Reopen Case for Limited Purpose, the appellate court will grant deference to the trial court's decision. College Irrigation Company vs. Logan River & Blacksmith Fork Irrigation Company, 780 P.2d 1241 (Utah 1989).

ISSUES PRESERVED FOR APPEAL

The foregoing issues were preserved for appeal in plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to defendant's Motion for Reconsideration and plaintiff's Motion to Reopen Case for Limited Purpose (R. 261, 263).

STATEMENT OF CASE

J.V. Hatch Construction, Inc. ("Hatch Construction") filed a mechanic's lien against property owned by Michael Kampros ("Kampros") and subsequently filed a Complaint to foreclose on that mechanic's lien. Pursuant to Section 38-1-7(3) Utah Code Annotated, plaintiff also mailed by certified mail a copy of that mechanic's lien within 30 days of recording to Michael Kampros. A bench trial was held and plaintiff was the prevailing party. At trial, plaintiff introduced evidence of the mechanic's lien but did not introduce evidence of mailing a copy of the mechanic's lien to defendant. Defendant never denied receiving the mailing and never raised the issue at trial or in his pleadings. In written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the trial court awarded plaintiff its attorney's fees as the successful party pursuant to Section 38-1-18. The Court ruled

that evidence of failure to mail the mechanic's lien within 30 days of recording by certified mail as required by Section 38-1-7(3) was an affirmative defense that was never plead or alleged at trial by defendant.

After the Court's ruling, defendant filed a Motion for Reconsideration urging the Court to reverse its decision that the mailing requirement was an affirmative defense and hold that proof of mailing pursuant to Section 38-1-7(3) was part of plaintiff's prima facie case to recover attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18. The effect of such a ruling would be to eliminate an award of attorney's fees to plaintiff since although the mailing occurred, plaintiff did not present evidence thereof at trial. In addition to opposing that motion, plaintiff filed a Motion to Reopen Case for the Limited Purpose of demonstrating that the mechanic's lien mailing requirement had been complied with. The trial court granted defendant's Motion for Reconsideration, reversed its prior ruling and held that proof of mailing was part of plaintiff's prima facie case, which plaintiff failed to prove at trial and therefore plaintiff was not entitled to attorney's fees. The court also denied Plaintiff's Motion to Reopen Case for the Limited Purpose of demonstrating that the mailing requirement had been complied with. Plaintiff brought this appeal from both of those rulings.

FACTS

1. On August 31, 1995, J.V. Hatch Construction, Inc. filed a valid mechanic's lien on Michael Kampros' property. (R. 217.)

2. On August 31, 1995, a copy of the mechanic's lien was mailed to Michael Kampros by certified mail, as required by Section 38-1-7(3). (R. 274-76.)

3. On September 2, 1995, a Return Receipt for the certified letter was signed on behalf of Michael Kampros. (R. 274-76.)

4. On September 5, 1995, the Return Receipt was post marked for return mail to plaintiff's attorney. (R. 274-76.)

5. In his answer to the Complaint and the Amended Complaint, defendant did not aver that the mailing did not occur. (R. 5-10, 56-67.)

6. The matter was tried before Judge Hilder at a bench trial on August 12, 1996, September 11, 1996, November 8, 1996 and December 3, 1996. (R. 211.)

7. At trial, plaintiff did not introduce evidence that a copy of the mechanic's lien had been timely mailed to defendant, and the defendant did not introduce evidence that the mailing did not occur. (R. 217.)

8. On July 31, 1997, the trial court ruled in plaintiff's favor on the Amended Complaint and ordered foreclosure of the mechanic's lien in the amount of \$8,500. (R. 216-19.)

9. The Court also held that "compliance with the mailing requirement is not an element of plaintiff's claim. Any alleged non-compliance would constitute an affirmative defense, much like the statute of limitations or statute of frauds." (R. 217.)

10. The Court held that plaintiff had "met the essential requirements of Section 38-1-18, thus creating prima facie proof of entitlement to attorney's fees." (R. 217-18.)

11. Section 38-1-18 provides that the "successful party [in a mechanic's lien] action shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorney's fee."

12. On August 18, 1997, defendant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs, urging the Court to reverse its previous ruling that plaintiff had proven a prima facie case of entitlement to attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18. (R. 240.)

13. Defendant cited Section 38-1-7(3), which provides that "failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien" precludes an award of attorney's fees, and argued that a prima facie case for the award of attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18 includes proof of mailing pursuant to Section 38-1-7(3). (R. 242-43.)

14. Although plaintiff opposed that motion, plaintiff also filed a Motion to Reopen Plaintiff's Case for the Limited Purpose of proving that the mailing requirement had been complied with. (R. 268.)

15. A copy of the Return Receipt was attached to plaintiff's motion, together with an affidavit, affirming that a timely mailing had, in fact, occurred. (R. 274-76.)

16. On October 27, 1997, the trial court granted defendant's Motion for Reconsideration, holding that proof of mailing under Section 38-1-7(3) was part of plaintiff's prima facie case to establish entitlement to attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18, which had not been proven at trial and therefore plaintiff was not entitled to attorney's fees. (R. 297-99.)

17. On October 27, 1997, the trial court also denied plaintiff's Motion to Reopen Plaintiff's Case for Limited Purpose on the grounds that proof of the mailing was in plaintiff's possession at the time of trial. (R. 299-300.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in holding that a prima facie case for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18 includes proof of mailing under Section 38-1-7(3). The trial court also erred in denying plaintiff's Motion to Reopen Case for the Limited Purpose of demonstrating that the mailing requirement had been complied with.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRORED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION.

The trial court erred in granting defendant's Motion for Reconsideration on the grounds that A) plaintiff had established a prima facie case for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18, B)

the Motion for Reconsideration were filed more than 10 days after the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law was entered, and C) the mailing did occur.

A. A Prima Facie Case for Attorney's Fees Under Section 38-1-18 Does Not Require Proof of Mailing Under Section 38-1-7(3).

In granting defendant's Motion for Reconsideration, the trial court held that plaintiff had failed to prove a prima facie case for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18, inasmuch as plaintiff had failed to prove that a copy of the mechanic's lien had been mailed to defendant by certified mail within 30 days of recording as required by Section 38-1-7(3). Section 38-1-18 provides that attorney's fees "shall" be awarded to the "successful party" in mechanic's lien cases:

In any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorney's fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action.

Utah Code Ann. Section 38-1-18.

Plaintiff was the "successful party" in an action brought under "this chapter." Plaintiff filed a mechanic's lien, prevailed at trial, and the trial court entered a judgment foreclosing on the mechanic's lien in the amount of \$8,500.

A "prima facie case" is the minimum evidence sufficient to make a claim, until contradicted and overcome by other evidence.

See Binkowski v. Township of Shelby, 208 N.W.2d 243 (Mich. App. 1973), see also State vs. Real Property at 633 East 640 North, Orem, 942 P.2d 925 (Utah 1997). A "prima facie case" for an award of attorney's fees pursuant to Section 38-1-18 requires only that the plaintiff prove that it was the "successful party" in an action to enforce a mechanic's lien. The claim that plaintiff has failed to comply with Section 38-1-7(3) is an "avoidance or affirmative defense" that defendant can raise, but is not part of plaintiff's prima facie case.

Section 38-1-7(3) provides that within 30 days after filing a mechanic's lien, a copy of the mechanic's lien shall be mailed to the "reputed owner" or "record owner." Section 38-1-7(3) also provides that "failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien" to the "reputed owner" or "record owner" precludes an award of attorney's fees:

Within 30 days after filing the notice lien, the lien claimant shall deliver or mail by certified mail to either the reputed owner or record owner of the real property a copy of the notice of lien. If the record owner's current address is not readily available, the copy of the claim may be mailed to the last-known addresses appearing on the last completed real property assessment rolls of the county where the affected property is located. **Failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien to the reputed owner or record owner precludes the lien claimant from an award of costs and attorney's fees against the reputed owner or record owner in an action to enforce the lien.** (Emphasis Added)

Utah Code Ann. Section 38-1-7(3).

In granting defendant's Motion for Reconsideration, the trial court held that, as a matter of law, a "prima facie" case for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18 also includes proof of compliance with the Section 38-1-7(3) mailing requirement.

As set forth below, a claim that Section 38-1-7(3) was not complied with is an "avoidance or affirmative defense" that may be raised by defendant, but is not an element of plaintiff's prima facie claim for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18. There is no Utah case holding whether compliance with Section 38-1-7(3) is one of the "elements" that must be proven to recover attorney's fees pursuant to Section 38-1-18.

As a general rule, statutory defenses that negate a plaintiff's claim are defenses that may be raised by defendant, but are not part of plaintiff's prima facie case to establish a claim. For example, Section 25-5-4 Utah Code (statute of frauds) provides that certain "agreements are void unless the agreement... is in writing, signed by the party to be charged with the agreement." However, a prima facie case to recover on an agreement that falls within the statute of frauds does not include proving that the "agreement was in writing." Such a claim must be raised by way of affirmative defense. Phillips v. JCM Dev. Corp., 666 P.2d 876, 884 (Utah 1983) (the statute of frauds is an affirmative defense, not an element of the claim.)

Similarly, Section 78-12-1 Utah Code (statute of

limitations) provides that "civil actions may be commenced only within the periods prescribed in this chapter..." However, a prima facie case for a cause of action subject to that chapter does not including proving that the cause of action was commenced within the periods prescribed in Title 78, Chapter 12. Such a claim must be raised by way of affirmative defense. Staker v. Huntington Cleveland Irrigation Co., 664 P.2d 1188, 1190 (Utah 1983) (the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense, not an element of the claim.)

Again, Section 63-30-3 Utah Code (governmental immunity) provides that "all governmental entities are immune from suit" with certain exceptions. However, a prima facie case to recover against a governmental entity does not require proving that one of the exceptions apply. The defendant must raise governmental immunity as an affirmative defense. Nelson vs. Salt Lake City, 919 P.2d 568, 574 (Utah 1996) ("governmental immunity is an affirmative defense that must be proved by the defendant.")¹

In all of the above examples, a "prima facie case" does not include proving compliance with the cited statutes. Similarly, in this case, if plaintiff is "successful" on a claim filed under

¹Other examples could also be cited. For example, Section 57-14-3 limits landowner liability for recreational accidents. However, a prima facie case for negligence does not include proving that the limitations of that chapter do not apply. Golding v. Ashley Central Irrigation Co., 793 P.2d 897 (Utah 1990) (Section 57-14-1 et seq. is an affirmative defense, not an element of the claim.)

the mechanic's lien chapter, it has made a "prima facie case" for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18. Defendant could have, but did not, raise failure to comply with Section 38-1-7(3) as an "avoidance or affirmative defense."

The wording of Section 38-1-7(3) further indicates that noncompliance with the mailing requirement is a defense, not part of the prima facie case to establish attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18. That section provides that "failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien to the reputed owner or record owner precludes the lien claimant from an award of costs and attorney's fees." Worded in the negative, the language of the statute suggests that a defendant seeking to avoid liability for attorney's fees must raise that "failure" as a defense. Had the legislature intended a Section 38-1-7(3) mailing to be part of the prima facie case for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18, Section 38-1-18 or 38-1-7(3) would have stated that claimants must comply with Section 38-1-7(3) to recover attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18. Being worded in the negative, the statute provides a defense, but is not part of the prima facie case for attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18.

It is incumbent on the defendant to raise defenses "outside the scope of a [general denial] of plaintiff's prima facie case" that would prevent recovery. General Ins. Co. of America vs. Carnicero Dynasty Corp, 545 P.2d 502, 504 (Utah 1976). Rule 8 of

the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides the manner in which such an "avoidance or affirmative defense" may be raised. See Golding vs. Ashley Central Irrigation Co., 793 P.2d 897, 899 (Utah 1990) (discussing the procedure for raising an "avoidance or affirmative defense" under Rule 8). Plaintiff is not required to rebut such defenses to establish a prima facie case.

In this case, defendant did not claim in his pleadings or at trial that the mailing did not occur. Plaintiff's prima facie case for recovering attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18 did not include proving compliance with the Section 38-1-7(3) mailing requirement. Plaintiff was the "successful party" in a mechanic's lien case, which satisfied its prima facie case to recover attorney's fees under Section 38-1-18. The trial court erred in reversing its prior ruling and holding that plaintiff's prima facie case under Section 38-1-18 included proof of mailing under Section 38-1-7(3).

B. The Motion For Reconsideration Was Improper.

As a general rule, motions for reconsideration are not recognized in Utah. See Peay v. Peay, 607 P.2d 841 (Utah 1980); McKee v. Williams, 741 P.2d 978 (Utah 1981). There are two exceptions to this rule. First, where a trial court rules on less than all of the claims in a case, under Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the trial court may reconsider earlier rulings. See e.g., Timm vs. Dewsnap, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah

1993). Second, where a motion for reconsideration is in substance a motion under Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the motion to reconsider may be treated as a Rule 59 motion. See e.g., Watkiss & Campbell v. Foa & Son, 808 P.2d 1061 (Utah 1991). This case does not fall under either of those exceptions.

Consequently, the trial court erred in reconsidering its earlier ruling. See Drury v. Lunceford, 415 P.2d 662 (Utah 1966) (a trial court does not have authority to act "as a court of review upon [its own] ruling.") Therefore, the trial court erred in considering defendant's motion for reconsideration where there was no basis to do so under Rule 54(b) or Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

C. The Mailing Did Occur.

The Section 38-1-7(3) mailing requirement was complied with. The trial court erred in granting defendant's Motion for Reconsideration without also granting plaintiff's Motion to Reopen Case for Limited Purpose, to allow plaintiff to demonstrate proof of mailing.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S
MOTION TO REOPEN FOR LIMITED PURPOSE.

Inasmuch as the trial court granted defendant's Motion for Reconsideration, plaintiff should have been allowed to reopen its case for the limited purpose of demonstrating that, in fact, the mailing requirement was complied with. The trial court's

reversal of its prior ruling constituted a surprise to plaintiff. The trial court erred in denying plaintiff's Motion to Reopen for Limited Purposes on the grounds that A) plaintiff satisfied the Rule 59 grounds for reopening a case to take additional testimony, and B) the mailing did occur.

A. Plaintiff complied with the requirements of Rule 59 for reopening the case.

Plaintiff satisfied the grounds set forth in the Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to reopen this case for the limited purpose of demonstrating that the mailing requirement was complied with. Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the Court may "take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions" for a number of reasons, including 1) "[a]ccident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against," and 2) "[i]nsufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision:"

The court may open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions, and direct the entry of a new judgment [for any of the following causes]:

...
(3) Accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against.

...
(6) Insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, or that it is against law.

Rule 59(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Both of these grounds were satisfied in this case. At trial, the trial judge and plaintiff's counsel were of the opinion that plaintiff had proven a prima facie case for attorney's fees. It was not until defendant filed his Motion for Reconsideration, and the trial court reversed its prior ruling, that this changed. This is sufficient "accident or surprise" to justify plaintiff's introduction of evidence demonstrating compliance with the mailing requirement. Where the trial judge believed at trial that a prima facie case had been proven, certainly plaintiff was "surprised" when the trial judge later reversed his decision. "Ordinary prudence" could not have guarded against the trial judge later reversing his decision.

Similarly, the trial court had awarded attorney's fees in its original Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The trial court's later reversal created a "insufficiency of the evidence" to support its earlier award of attorney's fees. Since there was no evidence as to whether the mailing requirement had been complied with, the case should have been reopened under Rule 59(a)(6) to determine whether there was sufficient evidence (i.e. proof of mailing) to support the trial court's earlier award of attorney's fees.

B. The Mailing Did Occur.

The trial court reconsidered its ruling as to whether proof of mailing was part of plaintiff's prima facie case, but denied a

motion to introduce evidence to demonstrate the truth of the matter. Mr. Kampros cannot have it both ways. If the trial court reconsiders the issue of what constitutes the prima facie elements of a claim and adds a new element, it is an abuse of discretion not to reopen the case to determine whether the new element (the mailing requirement) has been complied with. In this case, it is not disputed that the mailing requirement was complied with. Defendant knows that the mailing requirement was complied with. The trial court knows the mailing requirement was complied with.

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