1998

J.V. Hatch Construction, Inc., Plaintiff and Appellant, v. Michael Kampros, Defendant and Appellee : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The evidence which Plaintiff desired to introduce if the case was reopened is a receipt for certified mail allegedly evidencing mailing of notice. However, this was first produced and introduced into the record through an affidavit of Plaintiff's counsel filed on August 22, 1997. (Add. at pp. 55-57.) This was eight months after the conclusion of the trial, and a year after conclusion of Plaintiff's case. (Add. at p. 5 entry of 8/22/97.) This is far too late for the Plaintiff to be producing additional evidence.

On November 30, 1995, Defendant propounded to Plaintiff discovery requests which included the two following requests for production of documents:

Request No. 5. As to each element of your alleged damages, provide receipts or other documentation to support them.

Request No. 6. Provide copies of all exhibits which you will attempt to admit at the time of trial herein.

Clearly, if Plaintiff was claiming attorney's fees as a damage, Plaintiff had a duty to provide documentation required to support its claim. If Plaintiff intended to introduce documentary evidence of mailing of the prerequisite notice, it would have been necessary for the Plaintiff to produce the same to defendant prior to the discovery cut-off date of July 19, 1996. It would have

been inappropriate for Judge Hilder to permit introduction of this evidence at trial even if it had been timely offered as it had not been previously produced to Defendant during discovery. It is certainly inappropriate to reopen the case to admit evidence first produced eight months after the conclusion of trial. To do so would be to defeat the very purpose of the discovery process.

A party to an action has the right to have the benefits of discovery procedure promptly not only that he may have ample time to prepare his case, but also in order to bring to light the facts which may entitled him to summary judgment or induce settlement prior to trial. The rules were designed to secure “the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.”

W.W. & W.B. Gardner, Inc. v. Parkwest Village, Inc., 568 P.2d 734, 738 (Utah 1977).

The Plaintiff cannot ignore the requirements of the discovery process and withhold relevant evidence from the Defendant until trial. The Defendant had the right to prepare his case and make his decisions relevant to trial or settlement based upon the evidence which had been produced. Therefore, and on this separate basis, the ruling of Judge Hilder denying Plaintiffs motion to reopen was appropriate. The evidence belatedly produced by the Plaintiff would not have been admissible under any circumstances.

II

IT WAS NOT ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO RECONSIDER ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Reconsideration Is Appropriate Any Time Prior to Entry of Judgment.

Plaintiff points out to the Court that Utah Rules do not expressly authorize a motion specifically entitled “motion for reconsideration.” However, this argument elevates form over substance. It is clear that under Utah law a Court is free to reassess its conclusions at any time prior to the entry of a final appealable order.

The trial court found that the Plaintiff did not provide evidence of mailing and then concluded as a matter of law that Plaintiff was entitled to its attorney's fees in the court Minute Entry of July 30, 1997. However, the Minute Entry was not a final order or judgment. The document itself concludes with the statement that the Plaintiff was to submit a proposed judgment based upon those findings and conclusions for review by opposing counsel prior to being submitted to the court. Thus, it was clearly contemplated that the Minute Entry itself was not a final judgment. The fact that such a Minute Entry does not constitute a final order of the court has already been addressed by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Swenson Associates Architects, P.C. v. State by and through Div. of Facilities Const., 889 P.2d 415 (Utah 1994). In Swenson, the Utah Supreme Court ruled that:

It must be clear that "which is offered as the record of a judgment is really such and not an order for a judgment or a mere memorandum from which the judgment was to be drawn."

Id. at 417. In the present case, the last line of Judge Hilder's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (Add. at p. 31) makes it obvious that this was a memorandum from which a judgment was to prepared. (See also Utah State Bldg. Bd. v. Welsh Plumbing Co., 399 P.2d 141 (Utah 1965), "it seems obvious that neither the parties nor the court so regarded it [as a final judgment], otherwise there would have been no purpose in entering the final judgment which was entered on April 2, 1964, and from which the appeal was taken on time.") Id. at 144.)

There being no final order in place it was appropriate for Defendant to move the trial court to reconsider an apparently inaccurate conclusion of law. The conclusion that Plaintiff was entitled to an award of fees did not properly flow from the court's finding that the Appellant failed

to comply or introduce any evidence of compliance with the prerequisite of mailing notice. This reconsideration was entirely appropriate. “Any judge is free to change his or her mind on the outcome of a case until a decision is formally rendered.” Bennion v. Hansen, 699 P.2d 757, 760 (Utah 1985).

This holding was recently reaffirmed in the case of Ron Sheppard Ins., Inc. v. Shields, 882 P.2d 650 (Utah 1994), in which this Court stated:

It is well settled law that a trial court is free to reassess its decision at any point prior to the entry of a final order or judgment. [Citation omitted.] In the present case, because no final order awarding defendant summary judgment was signed and entered, the matter was still pending when plaintiff’s motion for reconsideration was filed in Judge Lewis’ court. She had every right to reassess the matter . . .

Id. at 654.

In the present case, no judgment was signed or entered based upon the trial court’s first Minute Entry of July 30, 1997. Judgment was not entered until after the Motion for Reconsideration was fully briefed by the parties, heard by the court, and a second Minute Entry entered on October 20, 1997. Thereafter, Appellant’s counsel submitted a proposed order which was signed by the court on November 17, 1997. The court’s reconsideration of the conclusions of law flowing from its findings was entirely appropriate.

B. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled That the Mailing of Notice Is a Statutory Requirement and Prerequisite to an Award of Attorney’s Fees.

Utah statutes, specifically Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(3), (1953, as amended) provide that “Failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien to the reputed owner or record owner precludes the lien claimant from an award of costs and attorney’s fees against the reputed owner or record owner in an action to enforce the lien.” The trial court concluded in its original

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that the Plaintiff had failed to introduce evidence of compliance with the mailing requirement of § 38-1-7(3). This conclusion was reiterated in the court's Minute Entry of October 20, 1997 which addressed the Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration on this issue. However, in its subsequent Minute Entry the trial court stated the following:

That is a correct statement, but the Court's further finding that "compliance with the mailing requirement is not an element of Plaintiff's claim. And the alleged non-compliance would constitute an affirmative defense, much like the statute of limitations or the statute of frauds," is in error.

This subsequent conclusion of the trial court that proof of mailing is an element of Plaintiff's claim is clearly correct and should not be disturbed.

i. The Party Alleging the Affirmative of a Fact Always Carries the Burden of Proof.

One of the most general rules of evidence is that the burden of proof of any given fact lies initially with the party who is asserting the affirmative of that fact (as did Plaintiff in this case). This rule was adopted by the Supreme Court of the State of Alaska in the case of Sloan v. Jefferson, 758 P.2d 81 (Alaska 1988), for the obvious reason that the party alleging the affirmative of a fact generally controls the evidence which bears on that fact. The same conclusion was reached by the Supreme Court of Arizona in Yeazell v. Copins, 402 P.2d 541 (Ariz. 1965). Likewise this is the position of the Supreme Courts of Colorado, Kansas, and New Mexico. (See Atlantic & Pacific Ins. Co. v. Barnes, 666 P.2d 163 (Colo. App. 1983); Wooderson v. Ortho Pharm. Corp., 681 P.2d 1038 (Kan. 1984); and Newcum v. Lawson, 684 P.2d 534 (N.M. App. 1984).

The same rule has been adopted in the State of Oregon where the Supreme Court has specifically stated that in the absence of any evidence introduced on an issue the party who would be relying on the affirmative of the fact will be unsuccessful. Compensation of Harris v. SAIF Corp., 642 P.2d 1147 (Or. 1982).

Finally, the same result has been reached in the State of Wyoming in the case of Hancock v. Stockmen's Bank & Trust Co., 739 P.2d 760 (Wyo.1987). Utah follows its sister states in this conclusion. The Utah Supreme Court has ruled that it is the duty of a plaintiff to press at trial all claims asserted in his complaint. Durfey v. Bd. of Ed. of Wayne Co. School Dist., 604 P.2d 480 (Utah 1979). (See also People's Fin. & Thrift Co. v. Landes, 503 P.2d 444 (Utah 1972).) The rationale behind such rulings should be obvious. It is difficult, if not impossible, to prove the negative of any fact. A party does not even know what to rebut until evidence is introduced. In the particular circumstances of this case, the Defendant is not in a position to disprove delivery of notice unless or until some evidence of delivery or notice and the manner of that delivery is introduced into evidence. Therefore, during the trial phase of this case, the Defendant had nothing to rebut.

In the absence of any evidence of the statutory prerequisite delivery of the notice of lien, fees and costs may not be awarded.

ii. The Burden of Proof in Mechanic's Lien Cases is Always on the Lien Claimant.

In mechanic's lien cases, like all statutorily created causes of action which exist in derogation of the common law, the burden of proof on every element of the claim is on the lien claimant. A plaintiff must strictly comply with the statutory requirements before he can obtain

relief under a statutorily created cause of action. Such is the position of the courts of Arizona and Kansas.

The burden is on the plaintiff at the time of trial to either allege his compliance with the essential requirements of the statute, and if his compliance is denied, prove it by competent evidence or show that there was a legal excuse for having failed to do so.

Williams v. A. J. Bayless Markets, Inc., 476 P.2d 869, 874 (Ariz. App. 1970). (See also Kopp's Rug Co., Inc. v. Talbot, 620 P.2d 1167 (Kan. App. 1980).) The State of Washington has ruled similarly in Northlake Concrete Products, Inc. v. Wylie, 663 P.2d 1380 (Wash. App. 1983), "rights arising as a part of a materialman's lien are created by statute and are to be strictly construed . . . the burden of establishing a right to a lien rests on the person claiming it." Id. at 1382.

An excellent case on point is Daniel v. M.J. Development, Inc., 603 P.2d 947 (Colo. App. 1979), wherein the Colorado Court of Appeals had before it a mechanic's lien claim. The issue before the court was the provision of statutorily required notice. The lower court believed that the provision of notice or lack thereof, was an affirmative defense. "[T]he trial court ruled that the owner's waived 'their claim of inadequate notice' by not raising the same as either an affirmative defense in their pleadings . . . or as an affirmative defense in their pretrial statement." Id. at 949. On this point, the Colorado Court of Appeals overruled. "We conclude that the trial court's ruling was error." Id. The Appellate Court went on to state "a lien claimant has the burden of proving his right to a lien under the statute and that this burden includes the requirement of giving statutory notice." Id. Finally, the Colorado Court of Appeals stated:

Hence, the owners' failure specifically to raise the defense of lack of notice is not material. For the same reason, the owners' need not establish prejudice resulting from a lack of notice.

Id.

Additional guidance on this point comes from the State of Oregon which has a fee provision in its mechanic's lien statute which is worded comparably in effect to the Utah statute. Relevant parts of the Oregon statute provide:

No costs, disbursements, or attorney's fees otherwise allowable as provided by ORS 87.060 shall be allowed to any party failing to comply with the provisions of this section.

Or. Rev. Stat. 87.057(3).

This is comparable to the Utah statute which uses the same mandatory language.

Failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien to the reputed owner or record owner precludes the lien claimant from an award of costs and attorney's fees.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(3), (1953 as amended).

The State of Oregon has interpreted the above-cited language to require pleading and proof of notice on the part of the claimant. "To entitle a lien claimant to costs and attorney's fees, compliance with the notice requirements must be pleaded and approved." Morse Bros. Contractors Inc. v. C.J.H. Construction Co., 675 P.2d 1122, 1123 (Or. App. 1984).

In fact, the defendant in a mechanic's lien case has no obligation to even introduce evidence until the lien claimant has introduced evidence on all issues in question. In the case of Martindale v. Adams, 777 P.2d 514 (Utah App. 1989), one of the defendants (Marinos, the property owner) failed to appear at trial other than through counsel. The issue before the court in the Martindale case was the existence of a contract between the lien claimant and defendant

Marinos. No evidence was introduced on this point by the lien claimant. As stated earlier, Mr. Marinos did not appear or put on any testimony. Despite this fact, the Utah Court of Appeals found that judgment against him was inappropriate because when there is no evidence in the record of a fact relevant to the lien claimant's right to recovery, judgment must be granted in favor of the defendant since it is the lien claimant's burden of proof.

Martindale, as the lien claimant, has the burden of proving entitlement to the lien, which includes proving an appropriate basis under section 38-1-3 for imposing the lien on Marinos' ownership interest in the home. See Hathaway v. United Tintic Mines Co., 42 Utah 520, 132 P. 388, 389 (1913), (lien claimant has burden of proving **all elements** necessary to establish entitlement to mechanic's lien(s). [Emphasis added]

Id. at 516. On this basis, the court of appeals also denied attorney's fees to the lien claimant.

Id.

While the case cited by the court of appeals in Martindale is well aged law, it still appears to be the law of the State of Utah.

Plaintiff argues that compliance with the statute is an affirmative defense which must be alleged and proved by the Defendant. In support of this position, Plaintiff refers the Court to three cases. The first is Phillips v. JCM Dev. Corp., 666 P.2d 876 (Utah 1983). Plaintiff cites this for the proposition that the statute of frauds is an affirmative defense and not an element of plaintiff's claim. However, it should be noted that Phillips does not deal with a statutory cause of action in derogation of common law. It is a tort claim for injuries.

Similarly, the other cases cited by the Plaintiff are cases brought on common law theories and not statutorily created causes of action.

Staker v. Huntington Cleveland Irrigation Co., 664 P.2d 1188 (Utah 1983), concludes that the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense. However, Staker was a common law collection case. Likewise, the final case cited by the Appellant, Nelson v. Salt Lake City, 919 P.2d 568 (Utah 1996), which held that governmental immunity is an affirmative defense to be raised by the defendant is again, a common law tort injury case. The distinction between common law cases and statutory causes of action which are in derogation of common law, is critical.

Defendant's research reveals two occasions on which both the Utah Supreme Court and the Utah Court of Appeals have addressed precisely this issue. In the case of AAA Fencing Co. v. Raintree Dev. & Energy Co., 714 P.2d 289 (Utah 1986), this issue was addressed by the Utah Supreme Court. In AAA, it was undisputed that the lien claimant had failed to commence its lien foreclosure action within the one year provided by § 38-1-11, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended). The issue was whether compliance with the one year statute of limitations is an element of a lien claimant's case or an affirmative defense to be raised by the defendant.

Plaintiffs conceded that they filed their complaint late, but argue that Ross has waived his rights to the statutory bar as he failed to plead it as an affirmative defense.

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